2002

# Jefferu Ford v. American Express Financial Advisors, Inc. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

## **JURISDICTION**

The Supreme Court has jurisdiction in this matter pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(3)(j), as amended.

## **ISSUES FOR REVIEW**

- A. Whether the district court erred in holding, as a matter of law, that a company contribution toward an individual's welfare benefits in a future year, which was to be made only if the individual continued to work for the company pursuant to the contract, was a vested right that survived termination of the contract.

### Standard of Review

This Court reviews a district court's grant of summary judgment for correctness. *Progressive Cas. Ins. Co. v. Dalglish*, 2002 UT 59, ¶ 11, 52 P.3d 1142.

### Preservation

This issue was presented in the Defendant's Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiffs' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and in Support of Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment, R. 318-37.

- B. Whether, in the circumstances of this case, the district court erred in rejecting the defense that the parties entered into a substituted contract that extinguished any obligation under the original contract.

Standard of Review

This Court reviews a district court's grant of summary judgment for correctness. *Progressive Cas. Ins. Co. v. Dalglish*, 2002 UT 59, ¶ 11, 52 P.3d 1142.

Preservation

This issue was presented in the Defendant's Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiffs' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and in Support of Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment, R. 337-44.

- C. Whether, if the substituted contract defense was not established as a matter of law, Defendant was entitled to present issues of disputed fact regarding substituted contract to the jury.

Standard of Review

This Court reviews a district court's grant of summary judgment for correctness. *Progressive Cas. Ins. Co. v. Dalglish*, 2002 UT 59, ¶ 11, 52 P.3d 1142. Facts and inferences are viewed in a light most favorable to the nonmoving party. *SME Indus. v. Thompson, Ventulett, Stainback & Assocs.*, 2001 UT 54, ¶ 9,

28 P.3d 669. The trial court's interpretation of a contract presents a question of law, which is reviewed for correctness. *Bishop v. GenTec, Inc.*, 2002 UT 36, ¶ 8, 48 P.3d 218.

### Preservation

This issue was presented in the Defendant's Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiffs' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and in Support of Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment, R. 337-44; *see also* R. 1453, at 36-48.

- D. Whether the district court erred by excluding all of Defendant's evidence showing that Plaintiffs' damages were offset by other aspects of their compensation package.

### Standard of Review

This Court reviews a district court's decision to remove the issue of offset to damages from jury consideration for correctness. *See John Call Eng'g v. Manti City Corp.*, 795 P.2d 678 (Utah Ct. App. 1990). This Court grants no deference to a lower court's method of calculation of damages. *See Lysenko v. Sawaya*, 2000 UT 58, ¶ 23, 7 P.3d 783; *Anesthesiologists Assocs. v. St. Benedict's Hosp.*, 884 P.2d 1236, 1237-38 (Utah 1994).

### Preservation

Defendant moved for partial summary judgment on requiring an offset to damages, which was denied. R. 642-69; R. 862-63 [Addendum (“AD”) 01-02]. Before trial, Plaintiffs filed a motion in limine to exclude all evidence relating to the offset of damages, which was granted. R. 989-91; R. 1056-57 [AD 08-09]; *see also* Def’s Mem. in Opp. to Mot. in Limine, R. 1001-29. After trial, AEFA filed a motion for a new trial on the issue of offsetting damages, which the trial court denied. R. 1337-38; R. 1403-04 [AD 14-15].

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This appeal arises from a claim for breach of contract, brought by a nationwide Plaintiff class of financial planners against Defendant American Express Financial Advisors (“AEFA”). Prior to trial, the Honorable Stephen L. Henriod, Third District Court, Salt Lake, denied AEFA’s motion for partial summary judgment seeking to require an offset of damages. R. 862-63 [AD 01-02]. Subsequently, on January 2, 2002, the district court denied AEFA’s motion for summary judgment on liability, and granted partial summary judgment on liability in favor of Plaintiffs. R. 904-07 [AD 04-07]. The court then granted Plaintiffs’ motion in limine to exclude all evidence related to offsetting benefits in an order dated April 2, 2002. R. 1056-57 [AD 08-09]. Following a trial limited to the issue of damages, the jury returned a verdict assessing damages against AEFA in the sum of \$14,109,068.82. The district court entered judgment on the verdict on May 1, 2002. R. 1334-35 [AD 11-12]. AEFA filed a timely motion for new trial,

which the court denied on June 20, 2002. R. 1337-38; R. 1403-04 [AD 14-15]. AEFA now appeals from the district court's judgment and all orders incorporated therein.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

### I. INTRODUCTION

*"When you come to a fork in the road, take it."* – Yogi Berra

Plaintiffs in this case are sophisticated financial planners who came to a fork in the road, took one path, and now want to go back and assert that they are entitled to the benefits associated with the other path.

Plaintiffs provided services to Defendant American Express Financial Advisors ("AEFA") under written contracts. Planners who reached certain sales production levels in a calendar year were eligible to receive contributions from AEFA toward their medical, dental and life insurance benefits (hereinafter "welfare benefits") in the next year. Effective March 22, 2000, AEFA restructured its sales force and offered its planners a choice between two alternative relationships. Under the first, planners could become employees of AEFA and receive contributions to their welfare benefits like all other employees. Under the second, planners could become independent contractor "franchisees." This independent relationship came with a different compensation package, in which the planners would receive a higher rate of commissions but would not receive subsidies for their welfare benefit premiums. Since it was not economically possible for AEFA to both pay the higher commissions and subsidize benefits, great care

was taken to make it clear to the planners, before they made their election, that AEFA would no longer contribute to their welfare benefits if they became franchisees.

Plaintiffs represent a nationwide class of approximately 3700 financial planners who chose the franchisee arrangement. Having made that choice, they are now enjoying a significant increase in their commission level. However, they have sued claiming that they remain entitled to contributions from AEFA for their welfare benefits during 2000. Despite language in their franchise agreements disclaiming any compensation related to the prior contracts and other evidence that the parties had deliberately substituted a new contract, the district court entered summary judgment on liability for the Plaintiff class. Its perfunctory order includes no factual findings, cites no case law, and contains no analysis. As a result of this order, no jury has ever considered what terms the parties intended to include in the restructured contracts.

The district court held a jury trial with respect to damages. Defendant AEFA proposed to show that any loss of the benefits subsidies was offset by the higher level of commissions. While the district court initially held that this posed a factual issue, on the eve of trial it granted a motion in limine and thereby prevented the jury from considering the offsetting impact of any of the benefits that class members received in exchange for discontinued subsidies. The jury awarded the plaintiff class \$14,109,068.82 in damages. If the evidence of offsetting benefits had been admitted and credited, this award would have been no more than \$4,826,842.

The judgment thus rests on a sequence of legal errors, including both liability and damages. If left standing, it would saddle AEFA with an enormous liability that it does

not owe, and hamper the ability of other businesses to offer new and different compensation packages.

## **II. THE FINANCIAL PLANNERS AGREEMENT (“FPA”)**

Prior to March 22, 2000, a Financial Planners Agreement governed the relationship between Defendant American Express Financial Advisors and its financial planners. *See* R. 1450, Dep. Ex. 10, at AX002000-07, AX002411-12, AX002297-98, AX002723-24, AX002817-18, AX003052-53; R. 1450, Dep. Ex. 17, at AX001974-81 [AD 16-23] (examples of FPA).

One aspect of the compensation provided under this contractual relationship was the “Star Quest” program. *See* R. 1449, Dep. Ex. 3, at AX000548-49; R. 1450, Dep. Ex. 8, at AX001623 [AD 24].<sup>1</sup> Under this program, a measure of the planner’s sales performance—known as Total Weighted Production (“TWP”)—was calculated after the end of the calendar year. *See* R. 1449, Dep. Ex. 3, at AX000548-49. Based on TWP, the “Star Quest” framework placed a planner at one of seven levels, also called Star Levels, for the next year. R. 1450, Dep. Ex. 8, at AX001623 [AD 24]. The principal significance of a Star Level was that it determined the rate at which a planner earned commissions and awards for sales. These were known as Professional Performers’ Commission (“PPC”) and Special Incentive Award (“SIA”), and were paid after the end of the year in which they were earned. R. 1449, Dep. Ex. 3, at AX000606-07. At the lowest level, Star Level

---

<sup>1</sup> The FPA’s compensation scheme included the “rules, policies and schedules as amended and published [by AEFA] from time to time.” R. 1450, Dep. Ex. 17, at AX001974 [AD 16].

1, a planner earned no PPC/SIA at all. R. 1450, Dep. Ex. 8, at AX001623 [AD 24]. At Level 2, a planner received \$3.00 in PPC/SIA per 1,000 TWP. *Id.* This commission rate increased incrementally for each Star Level. *See id.*

A planner's performance also was used for another purpose. Qualification for the lowest level on the Star Quest chart was a minimum threshold for a planner to be eligible to receive AEFA contributions toward welfare benefits. *See id.* AEFA made a company contribution toward the benefits premiums of planners at virtually all Star Levels. *See* R. 1450, Dep Ex. 6, at AX001233. All a planner had to do to receive the contribution was to qualify for *some* Star Level—*i.e.*, to meet the minimum TWP required of all Financial Planners. *See id.* (“Financial Planners must meet at least the minimum TWP requirement . . . to be eligible to receive a company contribution toward the cost of medical, dental, and life insurance coverage.”). New planners received these benefits subsidies without qualifying in their first year, and continued to receive them at a minimum through the end of their second year. *See* R. 1450, Dep. Ex. 22, at AX001750 [AD 90].

Merely meeting the threshold for eligibility, however, did not by itself create an entitlement to a benefit contribution in the next year. To receive a contribution, the planner had to continue to work under the FPA, elect to participate in the benefit plan, and pay the non-AEFA portion of the benefit cost. *See, e.g.*, R. 1450, Dep. Ex. 6, at AX001235-36 (coverage terminates if beneficiary ceases to be member of eligible class; if personal cost contribution not made; or if coverage not elected); *see also* R. 1433, at 138-40. If the planner's relationship under the FPA terminated, all company contributions towards benefits plans ceased at the end of the month of contract



termination. *See* R. 355, Klegon Aff., at 2; *see also* R. 1450, Dep. Ex. 6, at AX001235 (health benefits coverage terminates on the last day of the month in which active work ceases). Moreover, the planner did not receive any payment for the value of benefits subsidies after the FPA relationship terminated. *See* R. 1450, Dep. Ex. 6, at AX001235, AX001239-40; *see also* R. 1442, Aamodt Dep., at 77-78; R. 1442, Bunnell Dep., at 12-13; R. 1442, John Ford Dep., at 93-94; R. 1442, Kell Dep., at 101-02; R. 1442, Zundel Dep., at 101-02.

Thus, a planner's overall compensation included very different kinds of payments—retrospective commissions and awards, which were forms of deferred compensation paid after they were earned, and ongoing benefits subsidies paid on behalf of planners at all Star Levels as they continued to work and earn them. AEFA's accounting for benefits contributions was consistent with this fact. AEFA set aside funding for commissions as they accrued. *See* R. 1450, Dep. Ex. 22, at AX001750 [AD 90]; R. 1450, Dep. Ex. 24, at AX001772. Benefits contributions, on the other hand, were not accounted for as a cost for the year in which the planner met the TWP threshold for Star Quest eligibility, but rather in the following year when the planner worked at the Star Level and received the contribution. *See* R. 1450, Dep. Ex. 24, at AX001772.

At the highest level of Star Quest—the Platinum Team—planners did not receive any contribution to their welfare benefits. Planners who were appointed to the Platinum Team no longer received a company contribution to their benefits; the earnings of Platinum Team members were increased to allow these planners to pay the full amount of their own benefits premiums. *See* R. 1450, Dep. Ex. 6, at AX001234-35.

Finally, there was no ambiguity about the effect of the termination of the FPA on any entitlement to payments under that contract. The FPA provided that “When this Agreement terminates, you will not, except as provided by the Sales Compensation Plan, be entitled to . . . [a]ny further commissions, fees, overwriting or compensation.” R. 1450, Dep. Ex. 17, at AX001977 [AD 19]. The Sales Compensation Plan was specifically defined to mean “the rules, policies and schedules as amended and published from time to time” by AEFA, thereby reserving the right to amend. R. 1450, Dep. Ex. 17, at AX001974 [AD 16]; *see also* R. 1449, Dep. Ex. 3, at AX000544 (AEFA “reserves the right to make compensation changes without prior notice”). It is undisputed that the Financial Planners Agreement terminated on March 21, 2000.

### **III. THE ANNOUNCEMENT OF NEW ARRANGEMENTS**

In 1999, AEFA announced its plan to restructure its relationship with its financial planners. AEFA developed a model with two alternative “platforms”—one in which financial planners could choose to become employees (“Platform 1”) and the other in which they would become franchisees (“Platform 2”). AEFA offered planners the choice of either of the two alternative relationships, effective March 22, 2000.

Under Platform 1, financial planners would sign an employment agreement and become AEFA employees. Under this arrangement, a planner would receive the same company contribution toward medical, dental, and life insurance benefits provided to all AEFA employees. R. 1450, Dep. Ex. 14, at AX001627 [AD 67]. While AEFA subsidized the majority of the cost of these benefits, the employee had to elect benefits coverage and make his or her own employee contribution. *Id.* at AX001627-28. If an

employee did not elect benefits and make the employee contribution, AEFA did not make any payment to the employee in lieu of the subsidy. *See* R. 1450, Dep. Ex 23, at AX003145. Planners who had qualified for Star Quest in the prior year and who chose to become employees in 2000 did not get double benefits subsidies or other payments. *See* R. 355.

Under the second alternative, Platform 2, planners would choose to enter into a Business Franchise Agreement (“BFA”) and become franchisees known as “Independent Advisors.” R. 1450, Dep. Ex. 28, at P000426 [AD 29]. In place of the deferred compensation provided under Star Quest program, the new Platform program was based on Gross Dealer Concession (“GDC”) and contained more compensation paid currently. *See* R. 1450, Dep. Ex. 22, at AX001748 [AD 88]; R. 1451, Lennick Dep., at 11-13. Consistent with the independent status of franchisees, planners who chose this arrangement received a compensation package that replaced company subsidies for employees’ benefits contributions with a higher rate of cash commission. R. 1450, Dep. Ex. 21, at AX001769. Substituting cash for benefits subsidies allowed planners to choose whether to apply the cash to benefits premiums, or to use it for other purposes. *See* R. 1451, Lennick Dep., at 21.

The discontinuation of benefits subsidies for Platform 2 franchisees was the subject of extensive disclosure and discussion with the planners. An early draft of the BFA was distributed to all financial planners in May 1999. *See* R. 1451, Punch Dep., at 45. AEFA explained that it had eliminated the benefits contribution and raised the commission rate to 85% of Gross Dealer Concession. Without the elimination of the benefits contributions, commissions would have been 83% of GDC. *See, e.g.,* R. 1450,

Dep. Ex. 13, at AX001340; R. 1450, Dep. Ex. 21, at AX001769; R. 1450, Dep. Ex. 22, at AX001750 [AD 90]. In consultations starting in the Spring and Summer of 1999, hundreds of planners expressed a preference for direct compensation over payment of welfare benefits. *See* R. 1451, Lennick Dep., at 57. For all but the lowest paid planners, the higher rate of payment of GDC more than compensated for the loss of the benefits contributions.

AEFA discussed the BFA with the Advanced Advisor Board, a group of planners who provided input on corporate decisions affecting their interests. *See* R. 1450, Wallenta Aff., at 4. AEFA went through the BFA almost line-by-line with the Advanced Advisor Board, and made changes to the Agreement in response to concerns those planners expressed. *See* R. 1451, Punch Dep., at 43-49. The Board members helped to structure the platforms, and in so doing they “went to bat for the group” to “work the best deal they could.” R. 1451, Aamodt Dep., at 87.

Planners continued to receive repeated, explicit notice about the differences between these alternative platforms for compensation. They were specifically told that planners who chose Platform 2 would not receive contributions to benefits at any level. For example, in June 1999, the following Question and Answer appeared on the Advisor Connect Platform, an electronic site available to all planners: “Q. When will benefits end for P2 Advisors and their staff? A. P2 benefits will end on 3/31/2000.” R. 1450, Dep. Ex. 12, at AX003152. In July 1999, planners received a Platform Resource Kit, which stated:

The company intends to make nonsubsidized (*i.e.*, without a company contribution) medical coverage available . . . to

Platform 2 independent financial advisors . . . beginning April 1, 2000. *Those who elect HMO coverage in this Platform will pay the full cost of the coverage.*

R. 1450, Dep. Ex. 14, at AX001636 [AD 76] (emphasis added). Similarly, in September 1999, the company issued what it called an “Important Notice Regarding Benefits and the Platforms Rollout,” which stated: “If you are hired into Platform 1, you will generally be offered the same coverage the Company offers to other employees, with the usual employee contributions.” R. 1450, Dep. Ex. 11, at AX001159 [AD 85]. However, “*If you choose to become a Platform 2 independent financial advisor . . . you will pay the entire premium beginning April 1, 2000, without a company contribution.*” *Id.* at AX001158 n.\* [AD 84] (emphasis added). At the end of September, the company issued a Bulletin to all non-first-year advisors in which it explained:

In Platform 2, funding previously allocated for Star Quest benefit awards has been incorporated into the 85% payout rate. Therefore, there will be no additional reimbursement to advisors for benefits that would have been earned under the Star Quest program.

R. 1450, Dep. Ex. 21, at AX001769. It followed up with a Field Bulletin two weeks later, which again stated:

For Platform 2 advisors, funding previously allocated to Star Quest benefit awards has been incorporated into the 85% payout rate . . . . Company contributions toward medical and dental benefits are being discontinued on March 31 . . . . If the benefit equivalent worth were paid to advisors in 2000, the Platform 2 payout would have been lowered to 83%.

R. 1450, Dep. Ex. 22, at AX001750 [AD 90].

The financial planners receiving these notices were sophisticated in financial matters; their role was to provide financial analysis and advice to AEFA customers

choosing between different economic alternatives. Planners were also able to project their own compensation arrangements. Prior to Rollout, AEFA distributed software that enabled planners to run projections of their income under Platform 2. *See* R. 1451, Bunnell Dep., at 163; R. 1451, Russell Dep., at 74. Before signing the BFA, many of the plaintiffs did calculations projecting that they would likely be much better off under Platform 2 than they would have been under the FPA and Star Quest. *See, e.g.*, R. 1451, Bunnell Dep., at 162-63; R. 1451, Kell Dep., at 157; R. 1451, Russell Dep., at 76; R. 1451, Zundell Dep., at 29.

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