2002

Jerry Ford v. American Express Financial Advisors, Inc. : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

Despite this burden, AEFA has never offered any evidence that the plaintiffs actually intended to release it from the obligation it incurred under the Star Quest program. It contends, rather, that such intent can be found from "the express words of the parties or . . . the facts and circumstances attending the transaction." Brief of Appellant at p. 28.

With regard to the express words of the parties, it is undisputed that the BFA does not expressly say that the plaintiffs are releasing AEFA from its Star Quest obligations. Instead, AEFA contends that such an intention on the part of the plaintiffs

can be determined, as a matter of law, from language used by the parties in the "Disclaimer of Benefits" section of the franchise agreement. That language is as follows:

Disclaimer of Benefits. Independent Advisor acknowledges that the Manuals, including the Compensation Schedule contained therein, constitute the complete list of the compensation and benefits owed Independent Advisor resulting from this Agreement or Independent Advisor's relationship with AEFA. Independent Advisor acknowledges that Independent Advisor has no claim to any other compensation or benefit plan, program or policy of or sponsored by AEFA unless such plan, policy or benefit plan specifically references Independent Advisors in their role as Independent Advisors as an eligible group under such plan, program or policy and Independent Advisor meets all conditions for eligibility set forth in such program.

This provision, when given its common sense meaning, acknowledges that a financial advisor may currently have claims against AEFA which he is not disclaiming. By so providing, AEFA has refuted its own contention that the franchise agreement was intended as a substitute for all of its prior obligations to the Advisors. The Advisor is acknowledging that the "has no claim" (present tense) "unless" certain conditions have been met. If such conditions have been met, then some of AEFA's obligations aren't being extinguished by the franchise agreement but survive. This is fatal to the claim of substituted contract.

[O]ne universally required element of the doctrine [of substituted contract or novation] . . . is that the parties agree

that the formation of a new contract will extinguish all obligations under a previous contract.

Lampley v. U.S., 17 F. Supp. 2d 609, 617 (N.D. Miss. 1998).

If an obligation from the old agreement is acknowledged to still exist, there is no substituted contract.

A novation requires that the pre-existing obligation be extinguished and anything remaining of the original obligation prevents a novation.

Resolution Trust Corp. v. Teem Partnership, 835 F. Supp. 563, 569 (D. Colo 1993).

AEFA attempts to avoid this result by arguing that the term "Independent Advisors" was meant to refer to a group which didn't exist prior to the execution of the franchise agreement and which, therefore, could not have had any claims subject to the "unless" clause of the provision. This interpretation is nonsensical. If this interpretation were adopted, then the language acknowledging that an "independent advisor has no claim to any other compensation or benefit plan, program or policy of or sponsored by AEFA unless such plan, policy or benefit plan specifically references to Independent Advisors in their role as Independent Advisors as an eligible group under such plan, program or policy" would be meaningless. A group which doesn't exist can't presently have any claims. Use of the word "unless" clearly acknowledges that AEFA believed that the independent advisors did, or might, have such claims as of the date the agreement was signed. Therefore, the words "independent advisors" have to

refer to a group that existed prior to execution of the franchise agreement. If they did not, the reservation of claims language would be referring to claims which, by definition, could not exist. A Court must not interpret a contract so as to render its provisions meaningless. As stated by the Minnesota Supreme Court, it is

the cardinal rule of construction that any interpretation which would render a provision meaningless should be avoided on the assumption that parties intended the language used by them to have some effect.

Independent School District No. 877 v. Loberg Plumbing & Heating Co., 123 N.W.2d 793, 799-800 (Minn 1963). Or, as the Court stated in Chergosky v. Crosstown Bell, Inc., 463 N.W.2d 522, 526 (Minn. 1990):

Because of the presumption that the parties intended the language used to have effect, we will attempt to avoid an interpretation of the contract that would render a provision meaningless.

In point of fact, AEFA itself believed that the independent advisors referred to in the disclaimer of benefits provision were the independent contractor advisors who had participated in the Star Quest program. James Punch, the architect of the franchise agreement, was asked specifically about the disclaimer of benefits provisions and whether the Star Quest program was offered to the plaintiffs in their role as independent advisors.

Q. Let me make sure that I understand. Prerollout independent advisors would have referred to all

independent contractor advisors?

- A. Second year and beyond advisors were all independent contractors prior to rollout.
- Q. With a few exceptions, that group of people became Platform II advisors, correct?
- A. Correct.
- Q. Now, the Star Quest program or plan or policy, whichever you want to call it, was offered to those people in their role as independent advisors, wasn't it?
- A. Yes, it was.
- Q. All of the prerollout independent contractors constituted an eligible group under the Star Quest Program, didn't they?
-
- A. I'm not certain what the legal interpretation is of eligible group. Prior to rollout not all advisors were eligible for Star Quest because they were below Star Quest zero in terms of production.
- Q. Okay. But anyone who met the Star level one was a member of an eligible group under Star Quest, correct?
- A. Yes.
- Q. As a matter of fact, that is addressed in the very last clause, isn't it, where it says, "an independent advisor meets all conditions for eligibility set forth in such programs," which would mean they would have to meet level one of Star Quest, right?

A. Right.

Q. So as far as you can tell is it fair to say that "unless" clause would cover the Star Quest program?

. . .

A. I would say it would include that but not be limited to that.

Dep. of James Punch at pp. 58-60.

It is true that after his deposition, and apparently after learning that his testimony was inconsistent with the legal position AEFA was advocating, Mr. Punch got religion and "corrected" several of his answers. He changed "Yes it was" to "No;" he changed "Right" to "Wrong;", and he changed his last quoted response to a simple "No." However, Mr. Punch's eleventh hour conversion is of no moment.² His initial reading of the disclaimer of benefits provision is the only one which permits the terms of the provision to have any meaning. The court below, in determining that the words "independent advisors" included the "independent contractor advisors," as AEFA had previously referred to plaintiffs, applied the common sense rules of contract

²Mr. Punch's changes in his testimony should simply be ignored as impermissible under Rule 30(e). In Albrecht v. Bennett, 2001 UT App. 399, the Court of Appeals recognized that the rule does not permit deposition answers to be changed from "yes" to "no" if "yes" was the answer actually given under oath. It is not proper for a witness to rethink his sworn testimony and purport to contradict his earlier answers as though they hadn't been given. "The Rule cannot be interpreted to allow one to alter what was said under oath. . . . A deposition is not a take home examination." 2001 UT App. at ¶ 29, quoting Greenway v. International Paper, 144 F.R.D. 322 (W.D. La. 1992).

construction employed by all courts.

In interpreting a contract, the language is to be given its plain and ordinary meaning. We read contract terms in the context of the entire contract and will not construe the terms so as to lead to a harsh and absurd result. Additionally, we are to interpret a contract in such a way as to give meaning to all of its provisions.

Brookfield Trade Center, Inc. v. County of Ramsey, 584 N.W.2d 390, 394 (Minn. 1998).

When Mr. Punch was asked what was meant by the words "independent advisor," he testified that "independent advisor" meant "[a]ny independent contractor advisor that is signing this document." Dep. of Punch at p. 58. He did not recant that testimony. It is obvious under the circumstances in which the agreement was signed, the terms "independent advisors" used in the franchise agreement meant those people who signed the agreement who had previously been called "independent contractor advisors." Therefore, any reference to claims possessed by the independent advisors before they signed the franchise agreement could only be a reference to claims they acquired as "independent contractor advisors."

The term "financial advisor" is nowhere defined in the franchise agreement except as the title for "you," the non-AEFA party to the agreement. The collective term "financial advisors" would, therefore, simply mean "all of you" who sign the agreement. As the "all of you" who signed the agreement were independent contractor

advisors, under the BFA "independent advisors" and "independent contractor advisors" are synonymous.

The integration clause of the franchise agreement does not alter this result. That clause reads as follows:

This Agreement, the attachments hereto, and the documents referred to herein constitute the entire Agreement between AEFA and Independent Advisor concerning the subject matter hereof, and supersede all prior and contemporaneous agreements, negotiations and representations (written and oral), no other representations having induced Independent Advisor to execute this Agreement. No party is relying on any agreement or representation, or bound by any other agreement or obligation concerning the subject matter of this Agreement that is not expressly set forth herein. Except for those permitted to be made unilaterally by AEFA hereunder, no amendment, change or variance from this Agreement shall be binding on either party unless mutually agreed to by the parties and executed by their authorized officers or agents in writing.

While AEFA argues that the language of the BFA contract documents "supercede all prior and contemporaneous agreements," it ignores the fact that this language modifies the phrase "constitute the entire Agreement between AEFA and Independent Advisor concerning the subject matter hereof . . ." Such language in an integration clause does not relieve a party of obligations it has incurred under prior contracts. It merely restricts the parties from seeking to use other matters as evidence of what the parties intended in the new contract. For example, in Security Watch, Inc.

v. Sentinel Systems, Inc., 176 F.3d 369 (6th Cir. 1999), the Court rejected the suggestion that an integration clause containing the phrase, "[t]he terms and conditions contained in this Agreement supersede all prior oral or written understandings between the parties and constitute the entire agreement between them concerning the subject matter of this agreement," had the effect voiding a party's rights under a prior agreement. As the Court noted:

it is inappropriate to read the . . . merger clause as superseding prior annual contracts. Merger clauses are routinely incorporated in agreements in order to signal to the courts that the parties agree that the contract is to be considered completely integrated. A completely integrated agreement must be interpreted on its face, and thus the purpose and effect of including a merger clause is to preclude the subsequent introduction of evidence of preliminary negotiations or of side agreements in a proceeding in which a court interprets the document. See 2 Farnsworth on Contracts § 7.3 at 215-25.

176 F.3d at 372.

The Court also acknowledged that this is "the universally understood purpose of this boilerplate clause. . . ." Id.

In the instant case, the BFA was an agreement to govern the parties' relations after termination of the FPA and the FPA's subject matter was the relationship between the parties prior to the BFA. Because the FPA had a different subject matter than the BFA, rights acquired under the FPA were not extinguished by the BFA. See Kentucky

Fried Chicken Corp. v. Collectamatic, Inc., 547 A.2d 245, 248 (N.H. 1988).

In the only case cited by AEFA for the proposition that an integration clause can produce a substituted contract, the two agreements in question had an identical subject matter, the amount owed to an employee for his services. Contrary to the suggestion of AEFA, the Court, in In re Worldwide Direct, Inc., 268 B.R. 69 (D. Del.2001), did not characterize the language of the merger clause as that which "clearly evidences the intent to create a substitute contract" (Brief of Appellant at p. 31). The Court applied that characterization to the following language of the parties' agreement:

Employee does hereby . . . release, acquit and forever discharge the Company . . . from any and all charges, complaints, liabilities. . . including, but by no means limited to, rights arising out of alleged violations of any contracts, express or implied . . . from the beginning of time to the date of execution hereof. (See Severance Agreement at § 3.)

This language clearly evidences the intent to create a substituted contract.

268 B.R. at 72 (emphasis added).

In the present case, the two contracts deal with entirely different subject matters, one defining the parties' rights prior to March 2000 and the other establishing their respective rights and duties thereafter. Accordingly, the integration clause in the BFA only has prospective application to the obligations arising after its execution and does not alter rights previously acquired. Merger clauses in contracts which govern the

prospective rights and duties of the parties "concern future dealings between contracting parties, not the alteration of rights acquired and duties undertaken in completed transactions." Kentucky Fried Chicken Corp., *supra*, 547 A.2d at 248.

POINT III THE ARGUMENT THAT THE FRANCHISE AGREEMENT IS AMBIGUOUS CANNOT BE RAISED FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL.

In apparent recognition of the fact that the franchise agreement cannot be read as an express agreement by plaintiffs to forego the benefits they earned under the Star Quest program, AEFA now argues that it is entitled to jury resolution of the parties' intent in signing the franchise agreement. This argument is being made for the first time on appeal and was not preserved in the Court below. The cited portion of the record where AEFA claims to have raised and preserved this issue, in Defendant's Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiffs' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and in Support of Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment, R. 337-44, nowhere discusses the issue of possible ambiguity of the agreement or of reasonable alternative meanings of the franchise agreement. In fact, in its Reply Memorandum in Support of defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment, R. 1353, at 36-48, AEFA repeatedly asserted that the franchise agreement's unambiguous language foreclosed the Advisors' claims and never suggested or implied that such language was susceptible to more than one reasonable interpretation, thereby presenting a jury question regarding the parties'

intent in signing the agreement. This argument echoed AEFA's initial assertion that the language of the franchise agreement was unambiguous and "it is subject to interpretation by the court as a matter of law." R. 337-38. AEFA never deviated from this position and never raised the issue that the franchise agreement's language created factual disputes requiring jury resolution.

To preserve an issue for appeal, a party must give the court below the opportunity to consider and rule upon that issue. As this Court stated in Brookside Mobile Home Park, Ltd. v. Peeples, 2002 UT 48, "in order to preserve an issue for appeal the issue must be presented to the trial court in such a way that the trial court has an opportunity to rule on that issue." 2002 UT at ¶ 14. The test for determining if a party has done so was articulated by this Court in Badger v. Brooklyn Canal Co., 966 P.2d 844, 847 (Utah 1998).

A trial court has the opportunity to rule if the following three requirements are met: (1) "the issue must be raised in a timely fashion;" (2) "the issue must be specifically raised;" and (3) a party must introduce "supporting evidence or relevant legal authority."

In the instant case, AEFA's claim of an entitlement "to present issues of disputed fact regarding substituted contract to the jury" (Brief of Appellant at p. 2), was not raised below, either generally or specifically, and AEFA never presented any legal argument regarding that issue or suggested that the facts warranted such an entitlement.

After arguing vigorously and exclusively that the franchise agreement should be interpreted as a matter of law, AEFA cannot now be heard to argue that the court below erred in doing so. It is axiomatic that

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